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DECISION


Gary Rucker is subject to discipline because he assisted a patient in obtaining unauthorized Schedule IV controlled substances, violated drug laws, and failed to keep adequate and correct documentation.
Procedure


On June 13, 2006, the State Board of Pharmacy (“the Board”) filed a complaint seeking to discipline Rucker.  On June 23, 2006, Rucker was served with a copy of the complaint and our notice of complaint/notice of hearing.  On February 15, 2007, we held a hearing on the complaint.  Assistant Attorney General Amy L. Braudis represented the Board.  Neither Rucker nor anyone representing him appeared.  On February 26, 2007, Rucker filed a letter concerning the case.  The matter became ready for our decision on March 8, 2007, the date the transcript was filed.


The Board cites the request for admissions that it served on October 4, 2006.  Rucker did not respond to the request.  Under Supreme Court Rule 59.01, the failure to answer a request for admissions establishes the matters asserted in the request, and no further proof is required.
  Such a deemed admission can establish any fact, or “application of the facts to the law, or the truth of the ultimate issue, opinion or conclusion, so long as the opinion called for is not an abstract proposition of law.”
  That rule applies to all parties, including those acting pro se.
  Section 536.073
 and our Regulation 1 CSR 15-3.420(1) apply that rule to this case.  But statutes and case law instruct us that we must “separately and independently” determine whether such facts constitute cause for discipline.
  Therefore, we independently assess whether the facts admitted allow discipline under the law cited.  The Board has established the following facts.

Findings of Fact

1. Rucker is licensed by the Board as a pharmacist.  Rucker’s pharmacist license is was at all relevant times current and active.
Patient T.P.
2. On or about September 27, 2003, Patient T.P. was seen in the Independence Regional Hospital emergency room.  Dr. Catherine White was on duty at the emergency room when T.P. arrived.
3. T.P. had overdosed on medications, and the hospital staff was unsure of which drugs were in her system.  T.P. was in possession of approximately 25 vials that listed the 
incorrect prescribing physician.  Dr. White’s name was listed on 25 labels as the doctor who had prescribed the medication, but she had prescribed medications for T.P. on only two occasions.
4. T.P. had her son bring to the emergency room a box of prescription vials that she had saved in order to show the hospital staff that she was taking the medication.  Approximately 200 vial labels showed Dr. White as the prescribing physician.
5. Dr. White observed that more than 25 vials for Propoxyphene N-APAP, which were labeled by B B Super Drug Pharmacy, had the same prescription number and date.
6. On January 29, 2004, United States Drug Enforcement Administration (“DEA”) Investigator Judi Watterson and Board Inspector Frank VanFleet traveled to B B Super Drug, 10215 E. Truman Road, Independence, Missouri.
7. At the relevant times, Rucker was the permit owner and pharmacist in charge of     B B Super Drug.
8. Watterson obtained a copy of the patient profile for T.P.
9. In comparing the quantities listed on the vials given to the emergency room staff with the quantities listed on T.P.’s profile, prescriptions C068667, C070390, C068688, C058527 and C054286 were found to have been filled with amounts in excess of the amounts originally prescribed.
10. The following is a comparison of the amounts prescribed and the amounts dispensed:

A) Thirty-eight containers labeled C068667 dated June 6, 2003, prescribed propoxyphene N-APAP 100.  Of these, 3 were labeled with a quantity of 4 tablets, 6 were labeled with a quantity of 8 tablets and 29 were labeled with a quantity of 15 tablets. These containers accounted for 524 tablets. T.P.’s patient profile shows 16 dosage units of propoxyphene N-APAP were dispensed on June 6, 2003, and no other refills appear on the profile.
B) Two containers labeled C070390 dated July 7, 2003, prescribed

Alprazolam 1mg.  The 2 containers were labeled with a quantity of 60 tablets, for a total of 120 tablets. T.P.’s patient profile shows 60 dosage units were dispensed on June 7, 2003, and no other refills appear on the profile.
C) Ten containers labeled C068688 dated March 7, 2003 prescribed Alprazolam 1 mg. Of these, 1 container was labeled with a quantity of 15 tablets for a total of 555 tablets.  T.P.’s patient profile shows 60 dosage units were dispensed on March 7, 2003, and no other refills appear on the profile.
D) Four containers labeled C058527 dated December 15, 2000, prescribed Ambien 5mg. Of these, 3 containers were labeled with a quantity of 15 tablets and 1 container was labeled with an unspecified quantity of tablets, for a total of 45 tablets, plus an unknown quantity.  T.P.’s patient profile shows 45 dosage units were dispensed on December 15, 2000, and no other refills appear on the profile.
E) Twenty-two containers labeled C054286 dated October 30, 1999, prescribed Alprazolam 1mg.  Of these 14 containers were labeled with a quantity of 60 tablets and 8 containers with an unspecified quantity on the label, for a total of 840 tablets, plus an unknown quantity.  T.P.’s patient profile shows 60 dosage units were dispensed on October 30, 1999, and no other refills appear on the profile.
11. Alprazolam, Ambien, and Propoxyphene are all Schedule IV controlled substances.
12. Rucker was responsible for filling a majority of T.P.’s prescriptions.  He filled prescription bottles for T.P. without new authorization to do so and without affixing a different label to the bottles.  Many prescription bottles had the same label with the same information (same number and date) indicating a one-time prescription without authorization for refills.
Documentation
13. B B Super Drug stopped filling prescriptions on February 5, 2004, and transferred pharmacy records and the majority of its controlled substances to Osco Drug, 1200 E. Truman Road, Independence, Missouri.
14. Rucker ordered 12 different Schedule II controlled substances on or about January 28, 2004, and February 4, 2004.
15. Rucker received the orders on or about February 2, 2004, and February 5, 2004.
16. Amerisource Bergen received a return of Alprazolam 2 mg. 1 x 500 on February 6, 2004, from B B Super Drug.  No other controlled substances have been returned by B B Super Drug since that date.
17. On March 16, 2004, Watterson and VanFleet interviewed Rucker and reviewed his records.  They compared the quantity of drugs ordered from Amerisource Bergen with the amount dispensed and transferred.
18. B B Super Drug was unable to account for all the Schedule II substances received from Amerisource Bergen the last week it was in business as a pharmacy.  A total of 13 order forms were used to document the transfer of Schedule II controlled substances to Osco Drug on February 6, 2004.
19. The following shortages between the amount ordered by B B Super Drug and the amount transferred to Osco Drug were found:
Hydromorphone 4 mg. tabs; -28

Morphine Sulfate IR 15 mg. tabs; -90

Endocet 10/325 mg. tabs; -60

Roxanol 20mg/mi solution; 60 ml vials; -120 ml’s

20. The inventory forms documenting transfer of controlled substances listed controlled substances intermixed with non-controlled substances, and some substances did not have the drug name listed.  The inventory list did not indicate that the drugs were transferred to Osco Drug or list Osco Drug’s DEA number and address.
21. VanFleet asked to see documentation for the distribution of two bottles of Alprazolam that Rucker had shown him on a previous visit in February 2004 (after the pharmacy stopped doing business).
  Rucker could not find documentation to account for the Alprazolam.
Conclusions of Law 


We have jurisdiction to hear this case.
  The Board has the burden of proving that Rucker has committed an act for which the law allows discipline.
  The Board argues that there is cause for discipline under § 338.055:

2.  The board may cause a complaint to be filed with the administrative hearing commission as provided by chapter 621, RSMo, against any holder of any certificate of registration or authority, permit or license required by this chapter or any person who has failed to renew or has surrendered his certificate of registration of authority, permit or license for any one or any combination of the following causes:
*   *   *


(5) Incompetency, misconduct, gross negligence, fraud, misrepresentation or dishonesty in the performance of the functions or duties of any profession licensed or regulated by this chapter;

(6) Violation of, or assisting or enabling any person to violate, any provision of this chapter, or of any lawful rule or regulation adopted pursuant to this chapter;
*   *   *


(13) Violation of any professional trust or confidence;
*   *   *


(15) Violation of the drug laws or rules and regulations of this state, any other state or the federal government.
Misconduct, Gross Negligence, Fraud, 
Misrepresentation, Dishonesty  – Subdivision (5)

The Board argues that Rucker’s conduct in assisting and enabling patient T.P. to obtain unauthorized Schedule IV controlled substances constitutes misconduct, gross negligence, fraud, misrepresentation or dishonesty in the performance of the functions or duties of a licensed pharmacist.

Incompetency refers to a general lack of, or a lack of disposition to use, a professional ability.
  Misconduct means “the willful doing of an act with a wrongful intention[;] intentional wrongdoing.”
  Gross negligence is a deviation from professional standards so egregious that it demonstrates a conscious indifference to a professional duty.
 


Fraud is an intentional perversion of truth to induce another, in reliance on it, to part with some valuable thing belonging to him.
  It necessarily includes dishonesty, which is a lack of integrity or a disposition to defraud or deceive.
  Misrepresentation is falsehood or untruth made with the intent and purpose of deceit.
  


We have found that Rucker refilled one-time prescriptions for controlled substances without valid prescriptions.  Rucker admits that he “dispensed in excess of the authorization.”
  But he argues that he did it in order to help a low-income, physically abused woman who was not taking her medication because she did not return to her doctor.  He stated that his conduct was not an act of greed.  We agree that his conduct constitutes misconduct, misrepresentation and dishonesty.  We do not find evidence sufficient to support a finding of fraud.  Because the 
mental states for misconduct and gross negligence are mutually exclusive, we find no cause to discipline for gross negligence.  We find cause for discipline under § 338.055.2(5).

Violation of Law – Subdivisions (6) and (13)
a.  Patient T.P.

Rucker supplied T.P. with unauthorized Schedule IV controlled substances in violation of 21 CFR 1306.21(a), which states:

A pharmacist may dispense directly a controlled substance listed in Schedule III, IV, or V which is a prescription drug as determined under the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, only pursuant to a written prescription signed by the practitioner or a facsimile of a written, signed prescription transmitted by the practitioner or the practitioner’s agent to the pharmacy or pursuant to an oral prescription made by an individual practitioner and promptly reduced to writing by the pharmacist containing all information required in § 1306.05, except for the signature of the practitioner.
Rucker supplied patient T.P. with unauthorized Schedule IV controlled substances in violation of § 195.060.1, RSMo Supp. 2006, which states:

Except as provided in subsection 3 of this section, a pharmacist, in good faith, may sell and dispense controlled substances to any person only upon a prescription of a practitioner as authorized by statute. . . .  All written prescriptions shall be signed by the person prescribing the same.  All prescriptions shall be dated on the day when issued and bearing the . . . full name, address, and the registry number under the federal controlled substances laws of the person prescribing . . . .  The prescription or electronic prescription information shall be retained on file by the proprietor of the pharmacy in which it is filled for a period of two years, so as to be readily accessible for inspection by any public officer or employee engaged in the enforcement of this law. . . .
Rucker supplied patient T.P. with unauthorized Schedule IV controlled substances in violation of 21 U.S.C.A. § 353, which states:

(b) Prescription by physician; exemption from labeling and prescription requirements; misbranded drugs; compliance with  narcotic and marihuana laws

(1) A drug intended for use by man which --

(A) because of its toxicity or other potentiality for harmful effect, or the method of its use, or the collateral measures necessary to its use, is not safe for use except under the supervision of a practitioner licensed by law to administer such drug . . . .

shall be dispensed only (i) upon a written prescription of a practitioner licensed by law to administer such drug, or (ii) upon an oral prescription of such practitioner which is reduced promptly to writing and filed by the pharmacist, or (iii) by refilling any such written or oral prescription if such refilling is authorized by the prescriber either in the original prescription or by oral order which is reduced promptly to writing and filed by the pharmacist.  The act of dispensing a drug contrary to the provisions of this paragraph shall be deemed to be an act which results in the drug being misbranded while held for sale.
Rucker supplied patient T.P. with unauthorized Schedule IV controlled substances in violation of 21 U.S.C.A. § 829, which states:

(b) Schedule III and IV substances

Except when dispensed directly by a practitioner, other than a pharmacist, to an ultimate user, no controlled substance in schedule III or IV, which is a prescription drug as determined under the Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act [21 U.S.C.A. § 301 et seq.], may be dispensed without a written or oral prescription in conformity with section 503(b) of that Act [21 U.S.C.A. § 353(bl].  Such prescriptions may not be filled or refilled more than six months after the date thereof or be refilled more than five times after the date of the prescription unless renewed by the practitioner.
Rucker, as the pharmacist in charge, supplied patient T.P. with unauthorized Schedule IV controlled substances in violation of 20 CSR 2220-2.090 (formerly 4 CSR 220-2.090), which states:

(1) A pharmacist may be a pharmacist-in-charge of a licensed pharmacy; provided, that s/he complies with all provisions of this rule.

(2) The responsibilities of a pharmacist-in-charge, at a minimum, will include:
*   *   *

(E) Assurance that all procedures of the pharmacy in the handling, dispensing and recordkeeping of controlled substances are in compliance with state and federal laws;
*   *   *

(G) All labeling requirements are complied with according to section 338.059, RSMo, federal laws where required and board regulations governing auxiliary labeling of drugs and devices;
*   *   *

(W) Assure full compliance with all state and federal drug laws and rules;
*   *   *

(Y) Assure that all state and federal laws concerning drug distribution and control are complied with and that no violations occur that would cause a drug or device or any component thereof to become adulterated or misbranded[.]
Rucker filled the Schedule IV controlled substance prescriptions with the incorrect date by using the same label as previous fills in violation of 2l CFR 1306.24(a), which states:

The pharmacist filling a prescription for a controlled substance listed in Schedule III, IV or V shall affix to the package a label showing the pharmacy name and address, the serial number and date of initial filling, the name of the patient, the name of the practitioner issuing the prescription, and directions for use and cautionary statements, if any, contained in such prescription as required by law.
Rucker filled the Schedule IV controlled substance prescriptions with the incorrect date by using the same label as previous fills in violation of § 195.100.2, which states:

It shall be unlawful for any manufacturer of any controlled substance to distribute such substance unless the labeling thereof conforms to the requirements of federal law[.]

Rucker violated and assisted or enabled patient T.P. to violate the drug laws of Missouri and the federal government in obtaining these controlled substances without a valid prescription or authorized refill.  
b.  Documentation

Rucker’s failure to maintain inventory documentation is in violation of 19 CSR 30-1.044, which states:

(1) Every registrant required to keep records shall maintain on a current basis a complete and accurate record of each such substance manufactured, imported, received, sold, delivered, exported or otherwise disposed of by him/her.
Rucker’s failure to maintain inventory documentation is in violation of  21 U.S.C.A. § 827(a)(3), which states:

[O]n and after May 1, 1971, every registrant under this subchapter manufacturing, distributing, or dispensing a controlled substance or substances shall maintain, on a current basis, a complete and accurate record of each such substance manufactured, received, sold, delivered, or otherwise disposed of by him, except that this paragraph shall not require the maintenance of a perpetual inventory.
Rucker failed to keep the records for the distribution of Schedule II controlled substances to Osco Drug readily retrievable and separate from other records in violation of 21 CFR 1304.04, which states:

(a) Except as provided in paragraphs (a)(l) and (a)(2) of this section, every inventory and other records required to be kept under this part must be kept by the registrant and be available, for at least 2 years from the date of such inventory or records, for inspection and copying by authorized employees of the Administration.
*   *   *
(h) Each registered pharmacy shall maintain the inventories and records of controlled substances as follows:

(1) Inventories and records of all controlled substances listed in Schedules I and II shall be maintained separately from all other records of the pharmacy, and prescriptions for such substances shall be maintained in a separate prescription file; and

(2) Inventories and records of controlled substances listed in Schedules III, IV, and V shall be maintained either separately from all other records of the pharmacy or in such form that the information required is readily retrievable from ordinary business records . . . .
Rucker’s records did not include the name, address and registration number of the business to whom the drugs were distributed in violation of 2l CFR 1304.22(c), which states:

Records for dispensers and researchers.  Each person registered or authorized to dispense or conduct research with controlled substances shall maintain records with the same information required of manufacturers pursuant to paragraph (a)(2)(i), (ii), (iv), (vii), and (ix) of this section.  In addition, records shall be maintained of the number of units or volume of such finished form dispensed, including the name and address of the person to whom it was dispensed, the date of dispensing, the number of units or volume dispensed, and the written or typewritten name or initials of the individual who dispensed or administered the substance on behalf of the dispenser. . . .
Rucker’s failure to keep continuing records is in violation of 21 CFR 1304.21(a), which states:

Every registrant required to keep records pursuant to § 1304.03 shall maintain on a current basis a complete and accurate record of each such substance manufactured, imported, received, sold, delivered, exported, or otherwise disposed of by him/her, except that no registrant shall be required to maintain a perpetual inventory.

Rucker violated the drug laws or rules and regulations of Missouri and the federal government.  Rucker is subject to discipline under § 338.055.2(6) and (13).
Violation of Professional Trust – Subdivision (15)

Professional trust is the reliance on the special knowledge and skills that professional licensure evidences.
  It may exist not only between the professional and his clients, but also between the professional and his employer and colleagues.
  Rucker violated the professional 
trust or confidence of the physicians that T.P. visited by using their name on prescription labels without their authorization or knowledge.  Rucker is subject to discipline under § 338.055.2(15).

Summary


Rucker is subject to discipline under § 338.055.2(5), (6), (13), and (15).

SO ORDERED on April 13, 2007.
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